STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

DOMINIC A. GALLMAN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001179

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAR 19 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did trial counsel violate Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to pursue the motion to sever Petitioner's trial from his co-defendants where it was undisputed that "all of the evidence was against" one co-defendant and the joint trial permitted the state to introduce numerous inculpatory statements made by the co-defendant, which had to be redacted, albeit haphazardly, to remove reference to Petitioner?

II. Did trial counsel violate Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to object to a summary of phone records where the summary was inaccurate when compared to the actual phone records, specifically as those records related to the critical time around the murders?

III. Did the PCR court erroneously deny Petitioner a new trial based on after-discovered evidence where Petitioner's co-defendant, Stanley Oliver, testified for the first time that he alone committed the crimes and where the only physical evidence in the case implicated only Oliver and the other evidence presented by the state at the trial implicated Oliver?

STATEMENT

In September 2005, George "Jim" Batie and Desiree Felder sold large quantities of cocaine. App. 586, l. 16 – App. 587, l. 5; App. 588, ll. 24-25; App. 590, ll. 15-17; App. 592, ll. 8-12; App. 609, l. 24 – App. 610, l. 2. Stanley Oliver was a drug dealer as well. App. 935, ll. 17-21.

On September 4, 2005, Kevin Miller lived with his friend, Christopher Cochran. App. App. 562, ll. 1-3; App. 563, ll. 15-17; App. 565, ll. 16-21. Around 2 a.m., Cochran sent Miller to Batie's house to buy cocaine for him. App. 563, ll. 10-14; App. 565, ll. 16-25. Cochran gave Miller his ATM card and PIN to get money from his bank account to purchase the cocaine. App. 566, ll. 8-11.¹ However, Kevin did not return. App. 569, ll. 13-24. On September 5, 2005, Miller went to Batie's house to find out what happened with Kevin. App. 570, ll. 17-23. Miller knocked on the front door, but no one answered. App. 571, ll. 13-16. Miller then left. App. 572, ll. 7-12.

Later on September 4, Zondria McKie went to Batie's house to find her friend, Desiree. App. 595, ll. 11-24; App. 596, ll. 1-3. She knocked on the door, but no one answered. App. 597, ll. 14-21. However, when she turned the doorknob, the door opened. App. 597, ll. 21-22. She found a man on the floor by the door. App. 597, ll. 23-24. Believing the man to be sleeping, she walked over him. App. 598, ll. 8-15. However, she soon discovered Batie's body and blood. App. 598, l. 19 – App. 599, l. 16. Realizing the two men were dead, McKie called 911. App. 599, ll. 16-17. Zondria looked for Felder, but she could not find her. App. 600, l. 15 – App. 601, l. 16.

¹ According to the ATM receipt, Miller withdrew cash at 2:40 a.m. App. 575, ll. 13-18.

One identifiable print was lifted from a shoebox collected from a bedroom in Batie's home. App. 671, ll. 8-15. An officer compared the print to one from Stanley Oliver. App. 675, ll. 8-11. According to the officer, the prints matched. App. 675, ll. 8-11; App. 679, ll. 1-15; App. 679, ll. 19-24.

On September 7, 2005, Joseph Angelino was walking his dog when he noticed a dead body on the side of the street. App. 767, ll. 14-17; App. 768, ll. 3-8. Angelino called 911. App. 768, ll. 9-10. Presumably, this was the body of Felder.

Ultimately, it was determined that Felder died as a result of “[l]aceration to the brain due to the gunshot wound to the head.” App. 1532, ll. 1-6. Similarly, Miller “died as a result of a cerebral laceration secondary to a penetrating gunshot wound to his head.” App. 1702, ll. 16-20. Likewise, Batie “died as a result of a cerebral laceration due to a gunshot wound to his head.” App. 1716, ll. 10-11.

On November 16, 2005, a Richland County grand jury indicted Petitioner for burglary first degree (2005-GS-40-9696), three counts armed robbery (2005-GS-40-9695; -9697; -9698), kidnapping (2005-GS-40-9699), and three counts of murder (2005-GS-40-9700; -9701; -11581). App. 2848-2849; App. 2851-2852; App. 2854-2855; App. 2857-2858; App. 2860-2861; App. 2863-2864. The state, represented by John Meadors, David Ross, and Joanna McDuffie, called Petitioner and two other defendants, Kenneth Joy and Stanley Oliver, to trial on December 3, 2007, before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., and a jury. App. 1. Jonathan Milling represented Petitioner. App. 1. Douglas Strickler and Mary LaFave represented Oliver, and John Delgado represented Joy. App. 1.

At the close of the state's case, Judge Cooper directed a verdict of acquittal on one of the armed robbery charges. App. 1803, l. 24 – App. 1804, l. 3. Ultimately, the jury acquitted

Petitioner on one of other armed robbery charges as well. App. 2328, ll. 16-19. However, the jury found Petitioner guilty as charged on the remaining counts. App. 2328, l. 4- App. 2329, l. 6. Pursuant to the state's notice to seek life without parole under the recidivism statute, Judge Cooper sentenced Petitioner to life without the possibility of parole for burglary in the first degree and three counts of murder. App. 2346, ll. 13-17; App. 2350, l. 25 – App. 2351, l. 21; App. 2850; App. 2859; App. 2862; App. 2865. He also sentenced Petitioner to thirty years imprisonment for kidnapping and for armed robbery. App. 2350, ll. 17-24; App. 2853; App. 2856.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, which was perfected by Robert M. Dudek. App. 2355-2375. On January 20, 2011, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction in an unpublished opinion. App. 2416-2417; State v. Gallman, 2011-UP-006 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 20, 2011). Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing challenging the opinion. App. 2418-2426. On February 28, 2011, the Court of Appeals denied the petition. App. 2435-2436. Thereafter, Petitioner sought review in this Court. App. 2437-2463. On June 7, 2012, this Court denied review. App. 2491. On June 12, 2012, remittitur was issued. App. 2492.

On July 20, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 2493-2499. On March 9, 2018, Petitioner, through counsel, filed an amended application for PCR. App. 2507-2509. On March 15, 2018, Petitioner filed a second amended application for PCR. App. 2510-2512. On March 20 and 23, 2018, the matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. App. 2513. Kristy Goldberg represented Petitioner, and Jessica Kinard represented the state. App. 2513. By an order filed June 5, 2018, Judge Goldsmith denied Petitioner relief. App. 2793-2847.

Petitioner served his notice of appeal on June 22, 2018. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. Thus, in a PCR action, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) counsel’s performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Id. at 695.

I. In violation of Petitioner’s rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to pursue the motion to sever Petitioner’s trial from his co-defendants where it was undisputed that “all of the evidence was against” one co-defendant and the joint trial permitted the state to introduce numerous inculpatory statements made by the co-defendant, which had to be redacted, albeit haphazardly, to remove reference to Petitioner.

Relevant facts

On October 29, 2007, trial counsel filed a motion to sever Petitioner’s trial from that of his co-defendant, Stanley Oliver. App. 2656, ll. 2-5; App. 2740. Nevertheless, trial counsel failed to pursue the motion. According to trial counsel he thought that by having a joint trial where there was a lack of evidence against one defendant with a single piece of physical

evidence against a second defendant, then the first defendant had “a tactical advantage” of being able to “draw and distinguish one defendant from the next.” App. 2658, ll. 8-18. Trial counsel also wanted to be able to rely upon the lawyers of the other two defendants, Doug Strickler and John Delgado, to “challenge and discredit the witnesses,” in order to benefit Petitioner. App. 2657, l. 23 – App. 2658, l. 7. Trial counsel opined that the judge would have denied the severance motion because the state had “all the same witnesses.” App. 2658, ll. 16-18. Instead of focusing on the severe prejudice of permitting the statements made by Oliver to be admitted at a joint trial, trial counsel insisted the “allegations” were “that everybody did everything together and so there’s really no need to sever it.” App. 2658, ll. 19-24.

Prior to trial, hundreds of pages and hours of time were devoted to resolving the admissibility of statements attributed to Stanley Oliver that implicated, either directly or by inference, Petitioner. App. 186, ll. 7-9; App. 187, l. 21 – App. 197, l. 16; App. 244, ll. 10-18; App. 250, l. 10 – App. 254, l. 24; App. 256, l. 1 – App. 260, l. 3; App. 294, l. 20 – App. 295, l. 10; App. 297, l. 19 – App. App. 298, l. 1; App. 303, l. 5 – App. 310, l. 19; App. 351, l. 11 – App. 361, l. 16. In fact, the judge remarked that at least one statement was “rife with Crawford² issues.” App. 254, l. 25 – App. 255, l. 7. By all accounts, those statements were not admissible because Oliver was an unavailable witness and could not be cross-examined. However, the state sought to admit the statements by redacting certain portions of the statements. App. 192, ll. 1-13; App. 195, l. 19 – App. 196, l. 2; App. 255, ll. 8-22; App. 304, ll. 7-17. Instead of the jury hearing Petitioner’s name, the jury heard “another person.”

Despite the number of hours dedicated to this discussion during the pre-trial hearing, the issue recurred with numerous witnesses called by the state. See e.g., App. 1056, l. 7 – App.

² Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004).

1057, l. 8; App. 1241, l. 20 – App. 1244, l. 2. Although there was an effort to redact Petitioner’s name, the obvious implication was that Petitioner was the “other person” in Oliver’s statements. In fact, during the testimony of Jason Brown, a jailhouse snitch against Oliver, counsel for Oliver used Petitioner’s name in reference to a statement previously given by Brown. App. 1409, ll. 18-25; App. 1411, ll. 21-25; App. 1438, ll. 1-2; App. 1453, ll. 3-21. Had Petitioner not been on trial with Oliver, none of Brown’s very damaging and inflammatory testimony would have been admissible.

There was no physical evidence linking Petitioner to the crimes; however, there was a single fingerprint linking Oliver to the murders. App. 2646, ll. 2-8. Thus, the state’s case against Petitioner relied solely upon circumstantial evidence and guilt by association.

During the trial, Renata Williams testified that she was romantically involved with Stanley Oliver in September 2005. App. 829, ll. 2-4; App. 831, ll. 2-6. Williams claimed that over the Labor Day weekend after 2 a.m., she saw that Oliver called Petitioner on the phone. App. 835, l. 12 – App. 836, l. 15. After the phone call, Oliver left the home. App. 836, ll. 20-21. Williams claimed that the following afternoon, she saw Oliver with money and drugs. App. 837, ll. 11-20. When she asked where he got it, he said “something about doing a lick.” App. 838, ll. 1-2. Later in the week, she and Oliver went shopping. App. 838, ll. 23 – App. 840, l. 1. Oliver also gave her \$50. App. 840, ll. 4-9. On September 7, 2005, she and Oliver stayed in a hotel room with Oliver paying for the room in cash. App. 843, ll. 10-25. While in the room, the two watched a program involving murders. App. 844, ll. 9-14. Oliver asked her “if something was to happen to him and he’d get locked up, would [she] let people know that he was [her] husband.” App. 844, ll. 15-19.

Had Petitioner not been on trial with Oliver, none of Williams' testimony would have been admissible against him.

Ulcien "Mike" Allen claimed that on Monday morning, Oliver called him requesting to see him. App. 902, ll. 3-14. Allen went to see Oliver at Williams' house. App. 902, ll. 17-19. According to Allen, Oliver had "guns, a .12-gauge shotgun," "bundles of money," "crack cocaine," "cocaine and like digital scales for drug sales." App. 903, ll. 10-13. Allen asked Oliver if he had "pulled off a lick," and Oliver answered affirmatively. App. 903, ll. 14-16. When Allen inquired if he needed to be worried about the owner of those items seeking revenge, Oliver said, "nah, you ain't got to worry about that. The guy we got this from ain't going to be looking for us." App. 903, ll. 22-24. Oliver then gave Allen \$150. App. 903, l. 25.

When Allen learned of the murders, he "automatically" felt like Oliver had "some type of involvement" in them. App. 907, ll. 1-7. Allen called Oliver to discuss this feeling and that he had learned that "homicide" was looking for Oliver. App. 908, ll. 17-19. Allen claimed that Oliver said he was aware the police were looking for him because his fingerprint was found at the scene of a murder. App. 908, l. 23 – App. 909, l. 1. According to Allen, Oliver said he did not have anything to do with the murder, but he said, "We tore the dude up. We tore the dude up, but I didn't kill nobody." App. 909, ll. 2-5. Later, Oliver told Allen he "didn't kill the woman." App. 909, ll. 12-17. Allen told the jurors that Oliver frequently had a 9-millimeter, a .40 caliber, and a .12-gauge shotgun. App. 928, l. 25 – App. 929, l. 4.

When Allen was reporting all of this to police, he also told them that Oliver was affiliated with Petitioner and Kenneth Joy. App. 924, ll. 17-24. The police may have told Allen that they did not know where Petitioner lived in order to question him. App. 925, ll. 3-10; App. 950, ll. 1-12 (denying that the police wanted to speak to Petitioner). Allen went to Petitioner's home and

got his cell phone number, which he then provided to the police. App. 925, ll. 10-20. When Allen questioned as to why Petitioner allowed Oliver to leave his prints all over the crime scene, Petitioner allegedly told him that Oliver was on cocaine and there was no way to control him. App. 927, ll. 1-8. Allen also claimed that Petitioner told him that “they rushed” into the house to gain entry. App. 928, ll. 10-17.

Had Petitioner not been on trial with Oliver, none of Allen’s testimony regarding Oliver’s statements would have been admissible.

On Labor Day weekend of 2005, Tatanisha Robinson was visiting friends in Columbia. App. 1190, l. 24 – App. 1191, l. 8. During this visit, she saw Oliver. App. 1191, ll. 13-14. Robinson testified pursuant to an immunity agreement with the state and federal government. App. 1287, l. 1 – App. 1288, l. 9. Despite the grant of immunity, Robinson disclaimed a statement she had given to police previously. See e.g., App. 1203, ll. 9-12; App. 1203, l. 24; App. 1204, ll. 6-8; App. 1206, ll. 12-13. Robinson explained that she was expecting Oliver’s child at the time she gave the statement, and she was mad at him because he refused to leave his girlfriend for her. App. 1204, ll. 6-8. The state used her statement to police to impeach her, revealing that she indicated Oliver said he had \$2,300 and cocaine. App. 1206, l. 5 – App. 1207, l. 10. According to the statement, Oliver said he had gotten himself into something and could get “life.” App. 1211, ll. 17-20. Her statement also indicated that she asked Oliver about the murders and he was too emotional to talk about it. App. 1212, ll. 2-5. In the statement, Robinson allegedly claimed that Joy said the cops would never find the watch and wallet because they had destroyed them. App. 1225, ll. 16-22.

The statement also included that Petitioner was bragging about the murders, but Robinson denied writing the statement. App. 1216, ll. 7-13. Further, the statement indicated that

Petitioner had some money around this time. App. 1216, l. 22 – App. 1217, l. 19. In the statement, Robinson claimed Joy said he gave the drugs from the robbery to Blue. App. 1226, l. 4 – App. 1227, l. 4.

Robinson's disavowed statement claimed that Oliver "always" had a gun, including a .38 revolver and a .12-gauge shotgun, that Petitioner had several guns, including a .40 caliber that he allowed Oliver to use, and Joy had a 9-millimeter. App. 1218, l. 15 – App. 1219, l. 19.

Had Petitioner not been tried with Oliver, none of Robinson's testimony regarding statements by Oliver would have been admissible.

Omekas "Blue" Moaney sold dope for a living. App. 1074, ll. 17-18; App. 1075, ll. 6-14; App. 1080, ll. 7-11; App. 1083, ll. 7-8. Moaney claimed that on September 5, 2005, Kenneth Joy arrived at his house with Oliver. App. 1081, ll. 8-12. Petitioner arrived alone approximately thirty minutes later. App. 1083, l. 13; App. 1082, ll. 8-10. According to Moaney, Petitioner and Oliver "had a large amount of cocaine" that they wanted him to distribute. App. 1082, l. 24 – App. 1083, l. 1. Then, Petitioner and Oliver left, only to return "with a large bag of cocaine." App. 1083, ll. 16-18. They cooked the cocaine. App. 1083, ll. 19-22. Moaney claimed Petitioner and Oliver took some of the cooked crack and left, leaving the rest with him. App. 1084, ll. 13-20. Moaney further claimed they sold approximately \$3,000 worth of cocaine. App. 1086, ll. 1-8.

Moaney alleged that he got suspicious about the origin of the cocaine. App. 1090, l. 12. He questioned Petitioner and Oliver accordingly. App. 1090, ll. 18-20. He claimed that Oliver indicated they got the cocaine through robbery. App. 1091, ll. 3-7. Oliver also stated there was no intent to harm anyone, "but things got out of hand, things went wrong." App. 1091, ll. 9-13. It was revealed that Moaney was incarcerated in federal prison and hoped to get a downward

departure for his cooperation against Petitioner and Oliver. App. 1108, l. 16 – App. 1111, l. 8; App. 1112, ll. 7-18. Moaney had not received a downward departure for any other information he had provided to the federal government because he was found to be not credible. App. 1124, l. 10 – App. 1125, l. 3.

Had Petitioner not been tried with Oliver, none of Moaney's testimony regarding statements by Oliver would have been admissible.

Petitioner's girlfriend, Leticia Jones, explained that Petitioner arrived at her home on the morning of September 4, 2005. App. 1030, ll. 1-15. He was upset, crying. App. 1031, ll. 2-4. Petitioner told her that his friend "had gotten him into trouble and that he made him do something that he didn't want to do and that he didn't know what to do." App. 1031, ll. 15-21. She further claimed that Petitioner indicated "they knocked on the door and somebody opened the door and his friend shot the guy that opened the door." App. 1032, ll. 1-4. Then "they were trying to rob the man" who would not tell them where his money was. App. 1032, ll. 4-7. The friend "flipped out," "got really mad and angry and just shot the man." App. 1032, ll. 8-9. A woman was there and Petitioner's friend insisted they take the woman with them because she probably knew where the money was. App. 1033, ll. 16-18. While away with the woman, the friend was trying to hurt the woman, which Petitioner prevented. App. 1033, ll. 22-25. The friend then put a gun to Petitioner's head and told him to shoot the woman or he would get shot. App. 1033, l. 25 – App. 1034, l. 2. According to Jones, Petitioner said he "just closed his eyes and pulled the trigger." App. 1034, ll. 3-4.

Jones was impeached by two prior statements to law enforcement and a statement to a private investigator in which she made no mention of this alleged tearful confession. App. 1041, l. 8 – App. 1044, l. 1; App. 1045, l. 24 – App. 1045, l. 19. She admitted that at the time of trial,

her parents had custody of her son and were refusing to allow her to be involved in his life unless she “cut off all ties” with Petitioner. App. 1048, ll. 9-22. Jones further admitted that she had told Petitioner that the allegations against him were lies and that she believed he was innocent. App. 1049, ll. 4-25.

Had Petitioner not been jointly tried with Oliver, Jones’ testimony would have been admissible against him.

Discussion

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