RECEIVED

JUN 14 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County
Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

DOMINIC A. GALLMAN,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF SOUT CAROLINA,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2018-001179

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Because trial counsel articulated a valid strategy for withdrawing the motion for severance and because it is unlikely that a motion for severance would be granted, probative evidence supports the PCR court's findings that counsel was not ineffective.

Petitioner misleadingly claims counsel “failed” to pursue severance. This is inaccurate because Counsel chose not to move for severance as a matter of sound trial strategy. Counsel explained his deliberate choice to withdraw his prior motion for severance, explaining:

Because as we got into trial prep mode, I was looking at, again, the government pointing the finger at the physical evidence they had as it relates to Stanley Oliver, looking to say, you know what, I don't know if Stanley did it or not, but they don't have Dominic's fingerprint on here.

They don't have any evidence suggesting this about Dominic or anything like that, and so, if you have a joint trial and you can draw and distinguish one defendant from the next, I thought it gave us a tactical advantage there.

If it's just Dominic going forward with a single trial, the government is going to be focusing entirely upon him. You lose that argument. It's gone completely because every day they're going to talk about him in some way, shape or fashion. And so I mean, that in a nutshell was why I looked at it and evaluated what I thought made the most sense.

App. p. 2656, lines 9-25. Counsel later mentioned, “I mean, in my mind, again, the less Dominic's name was mentioned, the better.” App. p. 2671, lines 3-4. Counsel explained that in his view there was more evidence against Oliver than Petitioner:

As I recall, there was a thumbprint or some sort of a fingerprint. There was – I think most of the witnesses who said anything said that they – that Oliver may have admitted to something. So that in my mind showed that there was more evidence against Oliver than there was against Dominic. I mean, there was absolutely no physical

evidence.

App. p. 2684, lines 10-16.

Counsel spoke on his strategy regarding the lack of physical evidence against Petitioner, explaining to the PCR court:

[W]hat actual evidence do you have showing that he did it?

You mean to tell me that he went into somebody's house, shot two people, kidnapped another person, took them out to the woods, killed her and you don't have a single hair follicle, DNA gunshot residue, anything taken, anything like that.

App. p. 2668, lines 4-15.

Counsel executed his strategy at trial in his opening argument, telling the jury:

You're not going to hear about my client, Dominic Gallman's, fingerprint being anywhere. DNA evidence, you are not going to hear any evidence suggesting that my client's DNA was anywhere at the scene.

. . . There were search warrants which were executed in this case on the various different residences. You are not going to hear that any samples from Mildred Avenue were found either on my client or my client's residence.

You heard testimony – you've heard [the prosecution] suggest that one of the co-defendants in this case, Mr. Oliver, allegedly was seen with money and drugs. You won't hear that about my client, because he had nothing to do with this, ladies and gentlemen.

* * *

Law enforcement developed a theme in this case. The prosecution, the Solicitor's Office, has a theme in this case. Their theme as you heard [the prosecution] talk about it is that a drug dealer was robbed for drugs and for money. None of those things can be linked to my client. My client was not found with drugs. My client was not found with a large amount of money. Period.

App. p. 482, line 17 – p. 483, line 23. Counsel later emphasized to the jury again that Petitioner's fingerprints were not found at the murder scene. App. p. 485, lines 3-8 (“Lo and behold, my client's

fingerprints weren't found there.”).

Counsel noted a further strategic advantage for the joint trial, testifying at the PCR hearing:

One other thing, I think I neglected to mention this earlier, we've got John Delgado and Dough Strickler, and while they were representing the interest of their clients, when you've got three lawyers dealing with what ended up being either two – I guess it was three lawyers for the government's case, they're not looking out for Dominic's case, but at the same time to the extent they challenge and discredit the witnesses, it helps Dominic's case. So that was one other thing that factored into my decision.

App. p. 2657, line 23 –p. 2658, line 7. Counsel and petitioner also entered into a joint defense agreement with the other two defendants and their attorneys. Counsel found this arrangement beneficial because it allowed counsel to anticipate the codefendants' trial strategy. App. p. 2655.

In order to prove counsel was ineffective, a PCR applicant must show counsel's performance was deficient and the applicant was prejudiced by the deficient performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Counsel's performance will be deemed deficient if it falls “outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance.” Id. The applicant is prejudiced by the deficient performance if “there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. at 694.

“A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time.” Id. at 689. “Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential.” Id., at 689. In order to prove a claim of ineffectiveness, “the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action ‘might be considered sound trial strategy.’” Id. “[T]he existence of detailed

guidelines for representation could distract counsel from the overriding mission of vigorous advocacy of the defendant's cause." Id. at 689.

Counsel's articulation of valid trial strategy defeats a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1995); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546; 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). "Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel." Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). Strickland requires **extreme deference** to counsel's strategic judgments that are adequately investigated; as Strickland explains: "[S]trategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options **are virtually unchallengeable**. . . ." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91 (emphasis added).

In the instant case, counsel articulated a reasonable trial strategy. Trial counsel's strategy was to be able to juxtapose the absence of physical evidence against Petitioner to the physical evidence against Oliver, and to attack the credibility of the witnesses implicating Petitioner. He noted significantly more evidence, including admissions against interest, directly implicated Oliver rather than Petitioner, and he noted Petitioner would gain the benefit of not only counsel's own cross-examination, but the codefendants' attorney's cross examination of the State's witnesses. Counsel also noted that statements by the other defendants implicating Petitioner were redacted in accordance with Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968).¹

¹ After the trial court noted a statement made **by Petitioner** to law enforcement was "rife with Crawford issues," the prosecution explained he anticipated making appropriate redactions and submitting a redacted version of Petitioner's statement to the parties for further review. App. pp.

Counsel noted how the redactions were consistent with his trial strategy:

Specifically, as a result of a statement from whomever it came that Stanley Oliver and his friends did X, Y and Z, again, it sort of fit into our theory, I don't care who it is.

Stanley Oliver may be the worst dude on the planet, but nobody is implicating Dominic. He didn't say Dominic Gallman. You know, even if Dominic's statement – or his name had been thrown in there – and I think Doug Strickler messed up and threw his name in there at some point in time, we were able to discredit and discount these witnesses and show that they had reasons to lie, they had motives to lie or they were just crazy.

App. p. 2661, lines 8-19.

Our courts have expressed for joint trials, saying joint trials “play a vital role in the criminal justice system.” Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 209 (1987). They promote efficiency and “serve the interests of justice by avoiding the scandal and inequity of inconsistent verdicts.” Id. at 210. Moreover, criminal defendants who are jointly tried for murder are not entitled to separate trials as a matter of right. State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 73, 502 S.E.2d 63, 75 (1998); State v. Garrett, 350 S.C. 613, 620, 567 S.E.2d 523, 526 (Ct.App.2002). There is no clearly defined rule for determining when a defendant is entitled to a separate trial, because the exercise of discretion means that the decision must be based upon a just and proper consideration of the particular circumstances which are presented to the court in each case. State v. McIntire, 221 S.C. 504, 504, 71 S.E.2d 410, 415 (1952); State v. Avery, 374 S.C. 524, 533, 649 S.E.2d 102, 107 (Ct.App.2007).

Trial counsel reasonably noted there was little likelihood that the motion for severance would be granted. “Criminal defendants who are jointly tried for murder are not entitled to separate trials as

226-56. Petitioner falsely suggests in his petition that the trial court was commenting on a statement by Oliver. See Pet. p. 7.

a matter of right.” State v. Boys, 302 S.C. 545, 547, 397 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1990). “A severance should be granted only when there is a serious **risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of a co-defendant** or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about a co-defendant’s guilt.” Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 559, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001) (citing State v. Dennis, 337 S.C. 275, 523 S.E.2d 173 (1999)) (emphasis in original). In order to reverse a conviction on the basis of an allegation that a defendant was improperly tried jointly, a defendant must show prejudice. Dennis, 337 S.C. at 281, 523 S.E.2d at 17. Such prejudice is established by a showing that the defendant would have obtained a more favorable result at a separate trial. Hughes, 346 S.C. at 559, 552 S.E.2d at 317 (“An appellate court should not reverse a conviction achieved at a joint trial in the absence of a reasonable probability that the defendant would have obtained a more favorable result at a separate trial.”).

Petitioner misleads by omission, claiming counsel’s assessment of the likelihood of success on a severance motion was based solely on the fact the State had all the same witnesses. Pet. p. 7. Counsel’s assessment was not as simplistic as Petitioner portrays. Counsel testified as follows on the merits of a severance motion:

Essentially, when you’re looking at a motion to sever, you’ve got to demonstrate real actual prejudice counterbalanced against the need for judicial economy.

And I feel certain – while we didn’t argue it, but I feel certain that the State’s position is no, we need to have a joint trial. We’ve got all the same witnesses.

The allegations are that everybody did everything together and so there’s really no need to sever it, and making or formulating a prejudice argument would have been challenging because, essentially, the only rational would have been there’s evidence against him and there’s no evidence against us, so . . .

App. p. 2658, lines 11-24 (ellipses in original transcript). Counsel's assessment is based on a reasonable understanding of the law. See United States v. Akinkoye, 185 F.3d 192 (4th Cir. 1999) (noting a defendant is not entitled to severance merely because separate trials are more likely to result in acquittal or because evidence against one defendant is stronger than the other).

The challenge of formulating a prejudice argument becomes apparent when assessing the merits of Petitioner's prejudice argument. In his petition, Petitioner recounts the testimony of each witnesses to whom either Oliver or Petitioner made statements against their interest. Petitioner first claims "none" of Renata William's testimony would have been admissible against Petitioner in a severed trial. Pet. p. 9. However, Petitioner recounts Williams' testimony that she was present when Oliver was on the phone with Petitioner, that she saw Oliver with money and drugs, that Oliver admitted to her he did a "lick" (robbery), that Oliver and Williams went on a shopping spree, and that Oliver asked her to say he was her husband (presumably to invoke a marital privilege). Her testimony consists of her observations and Oliver's statements against interest. She would have been able to testify about her personal observations. She would also be able to testify about Oliver's admissions against interest because Oliver's admissions are not testimonial. "[A] statement cannot fall within the [protections of] the Confrontation Clause unless its primary purpose was testimonial." Ohio v. Clark, 135 S.Ct. 2173, 2180 (2015); State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 178, 638 S.E.2d 57, 61 (2006) (finding an out-of-court statement fell outside the scope of the Confrontation Clause because it was "made outside of an investigatory or judicial context"); Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004) (noting only testimonial statements require compliance with the Confrontation Clause; a nontestimonial statement is admissible, subject to traditional limitations upon hearsay evidence,

regardless of the defendant's opportunity to cross-examine the declarant).

Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968) does not apply to Oliver's out of court statements to Williams because the statements are not testimonial. United States v. Figueroa, 729 F.3d 267, 276 n. 14 (3d Cir. 2013) ("The protections of the Confrontation Clause and Bruton apply only to testimonial statements"). As the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals observed, "Many circuit courts have held that Bruton applies only to statements by co-defendants that are testimonial under Crawford," including the First, Second, Third, Fourth, Sixth, Eighth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuits. United States v. Vasquez, 766 F.3d 373, 378-79 (5th Cir. 2014). The Fourth Circuit found Bruton's rule "simply irrelevant in the context of nontestimonial statements" made to a cellmate. United States v. Dargan, 738 F.3d 643, 650-51 (4th Cir. 2013).

Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, provides:

(3) Statement Against Interest. A statement which was at the time of its making so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest, or so far tended to subject the declarant to civil or criminal liability, or to render invalid a claim by the declarant against another, that a reasonable person in the declarant's position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true. A statement tending to expose the declarant to criminal liability and offered to exculpate the accused is not admissible unless corroborating circumstances clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement.

A statement against interest may be admitted against a co-defendant. See, e.g., United States v. Jordan, 509 F.3d 191, 203 (4th Cir. 2007) (finding statements of co-conspirator to friend in an effort to relieve herself of guilt before her suicide subjected her to criminal liability for a drug conspiracy and murder and were admissible against defendant under Rule 804(b)(3)); People v. Taylor, 759 N.W.2d 361, 368 (Mich. 2008) (finding a co-defendant's statement to a third party

admissible against defendant under 804(b)(3)).

Further, the redactions to Oliver's out of court statement substituted "another person" for Petitioner's name, which is a proper, gender neutral, redaction. United States v. Akinkoye, 185 F.3d 192, 198 (4th Cir. 1999) (finding replacing the defendant's name with "another person" or "another individual" was an appropriate redaction in compliance with Bruton and Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. 185 (1998)); United States v. Logan, 210 F.3d 820 (8th Cir. 2000) (finding substitution of "another individual" for defendant sufficient).

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